IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LYNWOOD WILLIAMS Appellant,

Case No.: 96-546

v.

2nd D.C.A Case No.: 99-01282

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

APPELLANT'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Second District State of Florida

Rhoton & Hayman, P.A.

Loren D. Rhoton Florida Bar Number 0055735 412 Madison Street Suite 1111 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813)226-3138 (813)221-2182 FAX

STATEMENT OF CASE

On March 6, 1996, the Appellant, Lynwood Williams, was convicted by a jury of first degree murder in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, in and For Hillsborough County, Florida. Mr. Williams was sentenced to life imprisonment with a minimum mandatory sentence of twenty-five (25) years. (Ex. 1). Mr. Williams appealed his conviction to the Second District Court of Appeal and his judgment and sentence were affirmed on October 24, 1997. (Ex. 2).

Subsequent to his direct appeal, Mr. Williams filed a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 Motion For Post Conviction Relief on May 13, 1998. An evidentiary hearing was held on Mr. Williams' 3.850 Motion on January 14, 1999. On February 17, 1999, the Circuit Court denied Mr. Williams relief on his 3.850 Motion. (Ex. 3). A notice of appeal, appealing the denial of the post conviction motion, was filed with the circuit court on March 22, 1999. (Ex. 4).

On April 7, 1999, the Second District Court of Appeal of Florida, issued an order to show cause as to why Mr. Williams' appeal should not be dismissed as untimely. (Ex. 5). On or about April 10, 1999, a Response to Order to Show Cause and Motion for Belated Appeal was filed on Mr. Williams' behalf. (Ex. 6). On May 7, 1999, the Second District Court denied Mr. Williams motion for belated appeal. (Ex. 7).

On May 17, 1999, A Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Rehearing En Banc

was filed with the District Court on behalf of Mr. Williams. Said motion argued that the District Court had previously granted belated appeals from post conviction motions in cases similar to Mr. Williams' and thus, should likewise have granted a belated appeal to Mr. Williams. On June 2, 1999, Mr. Williams filed an Amended Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Rehearing En Banc. The amended motion was based on the above noted intra-district conflict raised in the original motion and the recent case of <u>Steele v. Kehoe</u>, 24 F.L.W. S237 (Fla. 1999). (Ex. 8).

On August 20, 1999, the Second District Court of Appeal entered an Order Dismissing Appeal. (Ex. 9). In the same Order the District Court granted the amended motion for rehearing to the extent that it certified the following question of great public importance to this Court:

"DOES THE HOLDING IN <u>LAMBRIX V. STATE</u>, 698 SO.2d 247 FLA. 1996), WHEN CONSIDERED IN LIGHT OF THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA'S PRONOUNCEMENT IN <u>STEELE V. KEHOE</u>, 24 Fla. L.WEEKLY S237 (FLA. MAY 27, 1999), FORECLOSE THE PROVISION OF A BELATED APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF A POSTCONVICTION MOTION WHEN THE NOTICE OF APPEAL WAS NOT TIMELY FILED DUE TO THE INEFFECTIVENESS OF COUNSEL IN THE COLLATERAL PROCEEDING?" (Ex. 9, p.3).

On or about September 15, 1999, a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was filed with the Second District Court of Appeal. (Ex.10). On September 21, 1999, this Honorable Court entered an Order postponing a ruling on jurisdiction and ordering Mr. Williams to file a brief on the merits of his case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Williams is currently serving a life sentence for first degree murder. (Ex. 1, p.5). Subsequent to his conviction and direct appeal Mr. Williams filed a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 Motion for Post Conviction Relief with the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit Court, in and for Hillsborough county. Mr. Williams retained the undersigned's law firm to represent him on his post conviction motion and any appeals from the denial of said motion. After an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Williams' 3.850 motion, the circuit court denied said motion on February 17, 1999. (Ex. 3).

Prior to the circuit court's denial of the 3.850 motion, Mr. Williams informed the undersigned that should the post conviction motion be denied, he (Mr. Williams) wanted the undersigned to file a notice of appeal. (Ex. 9, pp1-2). The undersigned informed Mr. Williams that should the 3.850 be denied, the undersigned would then file the notice of appeal.

The undersigned received a copy of the circuit court's order denying Mr. Williams post conviction motion of February 23, 1999. The cover sheet for the court order was dated February 22, 1999. (Ex. 11). The undersigned mistakenly calculated the time for filing Mr. Williams' notice of appeal from the February 22, 1999, date on the circuit court's cover sheet instead of from the February 17, 1999, Order denying the motion. As a result of the undersigned's miscalculation of the thirty day filing

period for Mr. Williams' notice of appeal, said notice of appeal was filed several days after the thirty day filing period had lapsed. (Ex. 9, p. 2). Said failure to timely file the notice of appeal was in no way attributable to Mr. Williams and was, in fact, beyond Mr. Williams' control. Mr. Williams is, and was at the time, incarcerated and was reasonably relying on counsel's promise to timely file a notice of appeal.

As a result of the failure to timely file a notice of appeal, the Second District Court of Appeal ordered Mr. Williams to show cause as to why his appeal should not be dismissed as untimely. (Ex. 5). In response to said Order the undersigned filed a response and motion for belated appeal. (Ex. 6). In the motion for belated appeal the undersigned informed the District Court that the untimely filing of the notice of appeal was the undersigned's fault and was in no way due to any actions on the part of Mr. Williams. (Ex. 6, pp. 1-2). On May 7, 1999, the Second District Court of Appeal entered an Order denying Mr. Williams a belated appeal. (Ex. 7).

The May 7, 1999, Order of the District Court referred to the case of <u>Diaz v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 724 So.2d 595 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1998). (Ex. 7). <u>Diaz</u>, in an apparently mistaken interpretation of <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 698 So.2d 247 (Fla. 1996), held that a district court could not allow a belated appeal from the denial of a motion for post conviction relief where counsel failed to timely file a notice of appeal upon the defendant's timely request for such an appeal. The <u>Diaz</u> opinion relied on one line of dicta from <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 698 So.2d 247 (Fla. 1996), wherein this Honorable Court stated simply that

"claims of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel do not present a valid basis for relief." <u>Lambrix</u> at 248.

On May 17, 1999, A Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Rehearing En Banc was filed with the District Court on behalf of Mr. Williams. Said motion argued that the District Court had previously granted belated appeals from post conviction motions in cases similar to Mr. Williams' and thus, should likewise have granted a belated appeal to Mr. Williams. On June 2, 1999, Mr. Williams filed an Amended Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Rehearing En Banc. The amended motion was based on the previously noted intra-district conflict raised in the original motion and the recent case of Steele v. Kehoe, 24 F.L.W. S237 (Fla. 1999). In said motion it was argued that Mr. Williams had every intention of appealing the denial of his 3.850 motion for post conviction relief and that he should not be punished for his attorney's untimely filing of the notice of appeal. (Ex. 8).

In response to the Amended Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Rehearing En Banc, the District Court granted the amended motion for rehearing to the extent that it certified the following question of great public importance to this Court:

"DOES THE HOLDING IN <u>LAMBRIX V. STATE</u>, 698 SO.2d 247 FLA. 1996), WHEN CONSIDERED IN LIGHT OF THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA'S PRONOUNCEMENT IN <u>STEELE V. KEHOE</u>, 24 Fla. L.WEEKLY S237 (FLA. MAY 27, 1999), FORECLOSE THE PROVISION OF A BELATED APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF A POSTCONVICTION MOTION WHEN THE NOTICE OF APPEAL WAS NOT TIMELY FILED DUE TO THE

INEFFECTIVENESS OF COUNSEL IN THE COLLATERAL PROCEEDING?" (Ex. 9, p.3).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Williams retained counsel to represent him on his 3.850 motion for post conviction relief and on any denial of said motion. As a result, Mr. Williams reasonably expected that his interests would be adequately protected by his counsel. The fact that Mr. Williams' notice of appeal from the denial of his 3.850 was not timely filed was in no way due to the actions of Mr. Williams. Mr. Williams informed counsel that he wished to appeal the denial of his 3.850 and counsel informed Mr. Williams that he would pursue such an appeal on Mr. Williams' behalf. Counsel mistakenly miscalculated the filing date for the notice of appeal and the untimely filing was due to counsel's mistake. Mr. Williams should not be punished for the mistake of his counsel when the untimely filing of the notice of appeal was in no way the mistake of Mr. Williams.

ISSUE

THE APPELLANT SHOULD NOT BE DENIED HIS RIGHT TO FILE AN APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF HIS FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.850 MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF WHERE HE REQUESTED THAT HIS ATTORNEY PURSUE SUCH AN APPEAL AND, THROUGH NO FAULT OF THE APPELLANT, COUNSEL MISTAKENLY FILED THE NOTICE OF APPEAL SEVERAL DAYS OUTSIDE OF THE THIRTY DAY PERIOD OF LIMITATION FOR FILING A NOTICE OF APPEAL.

It is true that a criminal defendant does not have a due process right, pursuant to the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, to effective assistance of counsel in a post conviction proceeding. <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 698 So.2d 247 (Fla. 1996). However, the holding of Lambrix does not dictate that a post conviction Movant is to receive no due process whatsoever. In fact, it was held in <u>State v.</u> Weeks, 166 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1964), that "[postconviction] remedies are subject to the more flexible standards of due process announced in the Fifth Amendment, Constitution of the United States." Weeks at 896. For example, in Weeks and Graham v. State, 372 So.2d 1363 (Fla. 1979), this Court held that due process required the appointment of postconviction counsel when a prisoner filed a substantially meritorious postconviction motion and a hearing on the motion was potentially so complex that the assistance of counsel was needed. Thus, although a post conviction movant may not have the right to effective post conviction counsel pursuant to the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, said movant shall

still be afforded the more flexible standards of due process.

In Steele v. Kehoe, 24 F.L.W. S237 (Fla. 1999), this Honorable Court addressed a situation similar to Mr. Williams' and found that the defendant was due relief pursuant to the more flexible standards of due process announced in the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution. In Steele, William Steele was convicted of first degree murder and sentenced to life in prison. Id. Mr. Steele claimed that he retained attorney Terrence Kehoe to file a motion for postconviction relief pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850, and that said attorney orally agreed to file a motion for postconviction relief. Id. Kehoe failed to file a post conviction motion on Steele's behalf in a timely manner, i.e., after the two year period of limitations for filing such a motion had expired. Id. Mr. Steele's pro se rule 3.850 motions were rejected by the trial court and the Fifth District Court of Appeal because they were filed after the two-year deadline had expired. Id.

As a result of his post conviction actions being barred, Steele filed a legal malpractice complaint against Kehoe. But, since Steele's 3.850 motions had been dismissed, Steele did not have an opportunity to demonstrate hat he was improperly convicted as a result of his attorney's negligence. Id. The trial court dismissed Steele's complaint because he could not prove his actual innocence or that his underlying conviction had been set aside. Id.

The dismissal of Steele's complaint was affirmed by the Fifth District Court of

Appeal because exoneration is a prerequisite to a legal malpractice action arising from a criminal conviction. <u>Id.</u> However, the Fifth District was troubled by the result, noting that irrespective of its holding, a monetary remedy in a civil action would be inadequate to redress Steele's injury. And, although the court recognized that, pursuant to Lambrix v. State 698 So.2d 247 (Fla. 1996), Steele had no right to effective postconviction counsel, they did consider what other possible remedies were available. The District Court considered what remedies would be available to a prisoner who hired an attorney to pursue postconviction relief and said attorney failed to timely file a motion within the two year period. The District Court held that "[i]f a prisoner is denied the opportunity to challenge his conviction under an appropriate rule only because of the negligence of his attorney, then due process requires a belated filing procedure similar to that allowed in belated appeals." Steele v. Kehoe, 724 So.2d 1192 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

On appeal, this Court in <u>Steele v. Kehoe</u>, 24 F.L.W. S237 (Fla. 1999), agreed with the District Court, stating that "...**due process** entitles a prisoner to a hearing on a claim that he or she missed the deadline to file a rule 3.850 motion because his or her attorney had agreed to file the motion but failed to do so in a timely manner." <u>Id.</u> (emphasis added). As such, this Court held that the correct procedure would be for the trial court to conduct a hearing on whether Kehoe undertook to file a 3.850 motion on Steele's behalf, but failed to timely file the motion. And, if such circumstances are

proven, then the right to file a belated 3.850 motion should be granted.

The due process that was applicable to the appellant in <u>Steele</u> is also due to Mr. Williams. Mr. Williams' case is almost identical to the factual situation in <u>Steele</u>, with one exception: Mr. Williams' post conviction attack was one step further along than in <u>Steele</u>. As in <u>Steele</u>, Mr. Williams is serving a life sentence for first degree murder. As in <u>Steele</u>, Mr. Williams retained private counsel to represent him in a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion. Counsel represented Mr. Williams at an evidentiary hearing on his 3.850. Mr. Williams informed counsel that should the motion be denied by the trial court, he (Mr. Williams) wished for counsel to appeal the denial. Counsel informed Mr. Williams that he would pursue an appeal on Mr. Williams' behalf should the 3.850 Motion be denied at the trial court level. Thus, as in <u>Steele</u>, retained counsel, pursuant to Mr. Williams' request, was supposed to file a pleading for Mr. Williams. As in Steele, Mr. Williams' counsel, due to mistake and confusion, failed to timely file an essential pleading. As in <u>Steele</u>, counsel's actions, or lack thereof acted to cut short Mr.

Williams post conviction remedies. And, as in <u>Steele</u>, the more flexible standards of due process as announced in the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution, should be applied in this case, and Mr. Williams should be granted a belated appeal in the Second District Court of Appeal. The holding of <u>Steele</u> dictates that Mr. Williams simply should not be punished for the mistake of his retained counsel.

In light of this Honorable Court's holding in <u>Steele</u>, it is apparent that the Second District Court of Appeal was in error in relying on the following cases to deny Mr. Williams a belated appeal: <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 724 So.2d 595 (Fla. 2nd DCA, 1998) and <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 698 So.2d 247 (Fla. 1996). <u>Diaz</u> held, based upon <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 698 So.2d 247 (Fla. 1996), that a defendant is not entitled to a belated appeal due to ineffectiveness of counsel in a post conviction proceeding when counsel, contrary to his client's instructions, fails to timely file a notice of appeal. <u>Diaz</u> at 596. However, a careful review of <u>Lambrix</u>, and consideration of <u>Steele</u>, indicates that the Second District Court was in error in relying on <u>Lambrix</u> for denying relief in <u>Diaz</u> and the instant case.

In <u>Lambrix</u> the movant filed a number of post conviction motions, including:

(1) a petition for habeas corpus alleging ineffective assistance of appellate counsel; (2) a motion for postconviction relief alleging ineffectiveness of trial counsel; (3) another petition for writ of habeas corpus alleging ineffectiveness of appellate counsel; and, (4) a federal petition for writ of habeas corpus alleging the above issues. <u>Id.</u> at 247. Finally Mr. Lambrix filed another motion for post conviction relief asserting that he was deprived of the right to represent himself in his initial motion for postconviction relief in violation of <u>Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). <u>Lambrix</u> at 248. Said final motion for post conviction relief was filed four years outside of the Rule 3.850 two year period of limitations for filing such a motion. <u>Id.</u> Lambrix also argued that

his collateral counsel was ineffective for failing to appeal the trial court's denial of his request to represent himself on his prior post conviction motion. <u>Id.</u> Finally, Mr. Lambrix argued that the proper remedy was to allow him to file a new original motion for post conviction relief.

This Honorable Court held, in <u>Lambrix</u>, that it did not need to reach the merits of Mr. Lambrix's claim that he should have been allowed to represent himself in his motion for post conviction relief because the motion was successive an abusive as it was filed subsequent to several other similar motions. Said motion was also filed outside of the two year period of limitations as set forth in Rule 3.850. Further, in relation to Lambrix's claim that his collateral counsel's failure to appeal the trial court's denial of his request to represent himself was ineffective assistance of counsel, this Court stated that "claims of ineffective assistance of counsel do not present a valid basis for relief." <u>Id.</u> The <u>Lambrix</u> Court did not elaborate on the preceding statement any further than that one sentence.

Lambrix was relied upon by the Second District Court of Appeal in Diaz v.

State, 724 So.2d 595 (Fla. 2nd DCA, 1998). Likewise, Diaz was relied upon in denying Mr. Williams a belated appeal in the instant case. It is respectfully submitted that the factual scenario in Lambrix was far different from that presented in Diaz and the instant case. In Lambrix the defendant had previously filed numerous motions for post conviction relief and his final 3.850 motion was, thus, successive and an abuse of

process. In <u>Diaz</u> and the instant case the Movants' post conviction motions were properly filed. In <u>Lambrix</u>, in addition to being successive and abusive, Mr. Lambrix's 3.850 was filed in an untimely manner, four years outside of the two year period of limitations. In Diaz and the instant case, the 3.850 motions were timely filed. Finally, in <u>Lambrix</u>, the defendant's claim was that his collateral counsel's failure to appeal the specific issue of the trial court's failure to allow him to represent himself on the 3.850 amounted to ineffectiveness of counsel; As such, Lambrix argued that he should be able to file a completely new and original motion for post conviction relief. In <u>Diaz</u> and the instant case the issue is not whether a new an original 3.850 motion should be allowed to be filed due to ineffectiveness of counsel; instead, the issue is whether the appellants should be granted a belated appeal where circumstances beyond the appellants' control, (i.e., miscalculation of filing dates on the part of counsel) caused a notice of appeal to be untimely filed. It is clear that <u>Lambrix</u> is an entirely separate an different factual scenario from <u>Diaz</u> and the instant case, and as such, the reasoning behind <u>Lambrix</u> should not be applied to the instant case.

Instead, the instant case is more akin to <u>Steele v. Kehoe</u>, 24 F.L.W. S237 (Fla. 1999), and the following cases: <u>Hildebrand v. Singletary</u>, 666 So.2d 274 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) [belated appeal on post conviction motion granted where petitioner, through no fault of his own, did not timely file a notice of appeal because he did not receive a

copy of the order denying his motion in a timely fashion]; and <u>Darden v. State</u>, 588

So.2d 275 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991) [belated appeal granted in post conviction proceeding where order denying motion for relief failed to inform the petitioner of his right to appeal within 30 days]. As in <u>Darden</u>, and <u>Hildebrand</u>, Mr. Williams' failure to timely file his notice of appeal was due to circumstances beyond Mr. Williams' control. Mr. Williams instructed counsel to file a notice of appeal and believed in good faith that counsel would timely file such a notice. Due to the miscalculation of counsel, Mr. Williams was unfairly deprived of his right to appeal the denial of his motion for post conviction relief. Such a result is clearly unjust and Mr. Williams should not have to suffer such an injustice where the failure to timely file the notice of appeal was in no way attributable to Mr. Williams. The above argument is born out in <u>Steele v. Kehoe</u> 24 F.L.W. S237 (Fla. 1999).

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