# ORIGINAL

Case No. SC00-258

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

.....

MAY 2 2 2000

CLERK, SURREME COURT

ALBERT ROGERS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN AND FOR THE SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 238538

PATRICIA A. McCARTHY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0331163 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2367 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT





#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court's decision in Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, \_\_\_\_U.S. \_\_\_, 118 S.Ct. 1064, 140 L.Ed.2d 125 (1998), forecloses Rogers' claim that misadvice of trial counsel on the decision whether to take an appeal warrants a belated appeal of an order pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850. Contrary to Rogers' contention there is no due process guarantee of retained counsel's effectiveness in advising a postconviction movant on the matter of taking a collateral appeal.

Here, postconviction counsel's letter reflects his advice to forego an appeal. This Court's decision in <u>Steele v. Kehoe</u>, 724 So. 2d 1192 (Fla. May 27, 1999), does not compel provision for a belated appeal based on attorney error on the matter of taking of a postconviction appeal. Neither the Sixth Amendment guarantee of effective assistance of counsel nor the Due Process Clause is offended by requiring a postconviction movant such as Rogers, who has not been denied an opportunity to challenge his conviction in a timely motion under rule 3.850, to bear the risk of attorney error pertaining to the taking or prosecution of a collateral appeal. Accordingly, this Court should approve the district court's decision that a belated appeal based on ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel is not appropriate.

#### ARGUMENT

**ISSUE:** DOES THE HOLDING IN <u>LAMBRIX V. STATE</u>, 698 So. 2d 247 (FLA. 1996), WHEN CONSIDERED IN LIGHT OF <u>STEELE V. KEHOE</u>, 747 SO. 2D 931 (FLA. 1999), FORECLOSE THE PROVISION OF A BELATED APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF A POSTCONVICTION MOTION WHEN THE NOTICE OF APPEAL WAS NOT TIMELY FILED DUE TO INEFFECTIVENESS OF COUNSEL IN THE COLLATERAL PROCEEDING?

In a habeas corpus petition, Roger sought a belated appeal based on misadvice of his postconviction counsel regarding the matter of taking an appeal of an order summarily denying his postconviction motion. Rogers did not contend that his retained counsel had agreed to file an appeal but neglected to do so in a timely manner. The thrust of Rogers' petition was that he timely informed retained counsel of his desire to appeal, he was mislead by counsel's advice not to take a collateral appeal, and as a result, he was denied a right of appeal.

At the outset, Rogers acknowledges that a criminal defendant does not have a due process right pursuant to the Sixth Amendment of the Unites States Constitution to effective assistance of counsel in a postconviction proceeding, citing Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 118 S.Ct. 1064, 140 L.Ed.2d 125 (1998). (Initial Brief at p. 5) Notwithstanding, Rogers argues he is entitled to a belated appeal premised on alleged misadvice of postconviction counsel pursuant to the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

The state asserts that Lambrix squarely precludes a claim by

a noncapital movant such as Rogers that his retained counsel was ineffective in counseling him on the matter of taking a appeal of a postconviction order. Rogers does not have a Sixth Amendment right nor a due process right to a belated appeal based on a claim of misadvice of postconviction counsel.

In Lambrix, a prisoner under sentence of death sought postconviction relief based upon his collateral counsel's failure to appeal a particular issue. This Court held that "claims of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel do not present a valid basis for relief." Id. at 248. In so holding, this Court in Lambrix set forth a marker, illuminating the line between challenges based on ineffectiveness of trial counsel and claims spawned from the collateral quest itself. As such, the Lambrix decision afforded a measure of finality to the extent of limiting collateral attacks grounded on the effectiveness of a movant's representation in a postconviction proceeding.

The demarcation recognized in <u>Lambrix</u> was established in the United States Supreme Court's decisions in <u>Pennsylvania v. Finley</u>, 481 U.S. 551, 107 S.Ct. 1990, 95 L.Ed.2d 539 (1987) (holding that the right to appointed counsel extends to the first appeal as a matter of right and no further), and <u>Murray v. Giarratano</u>, 492 U.S. 1, 109 S.Ct. 2765, 106 L.Ed.2d 1 (1989) (applying <u>Finley</u> to inmates under sentence of death).

Contrary to Rogers' contention, the Lambrix holding does foreclose Roger's his claim of misadvice as to the propriety of taking

an appeal from a rule 3.850 order. Although he avoids use of ineffective assistance terminology, Rogers clearly challenges the effectiveness of advice rendered by postconviction counsel on the bypassing a collateral appeal, filing a successive 3.850 motion, and/or proceeding in a federal habeas petition.<sup>2</sup> Because a claim that postconviction counsel failed to raise an issue on collateral appeal is not cognizable in a postconviction proceeding, Rogers' claim of attorney error on the matter of appealing an order pursuant to rule 3.850 does not constitute a cognizable claim for relief.

Rogers asks this Court to extend <u>Steele v. Kehoe</u>, 724 So. 2d 1192 (Fla. 1999), to his situation. The state responds that due process considerations addressed in <u>Steele</u> do not extend to entitle

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This is illustrated by Rogers' argument that counsel incorrectly advised him that the only further avenue available was federal habeas relief. (Initial Brief at p. 9) It appears that collateral counsel had concluded it would be useless for Rogers to ply an appeal of the summary order in his case. If, as the circuit court had concluded, Rogers was improperly plying direct appeal issues in a rule 3.850 motion, his pursuit of a collateral appeal would not avoid application of the state's procedural rules to his claims in a federal habeas proceeding. <u>See e.g., Harmon v. Barton</u>, 894 F.2d 1268, 1270 (11th Cir.) (where state trial court finds procedural default, state appellate court's silent affirmance is a finding of procedural default by the last state court to rule on the question), <u>cert. denied</u>, 498 U.S. 832, 111 S.Ct. 96, 112 L.Ed.2d 68 (1990).

Moreover, contrary to Rogers' criticism, it would be entirely prudent, given the one-year limitations period of 28 U.S.C. §2244(d), to advise Rogers to proceed to press any federal question he had properly exhausted through his direct appeal in a federal habeas petition under 28 U.S.C. §2254. Notwithstanding, it is apparent that Rogers, in actuality, seeks a belated appeal based on ineffective assistance of counsel for rendering purported misadvice of the taking of a postconviction appeal.

an unsuccessful postconviction movant to an evidentiary hearing to assess counsel's performance regarding the taking of a collateral appeal.

Steele involved a civil malpractice action in which a prisoner serving life in prison alleged that his privately retained appellate attorney negligently failed to file a timely motion for postconviction relief under rule 3.850 on his behalf, despite an oral agreement. Determining that appellate or postconviction relief is a prerequisite to maintaining a legal malpractice action, the Court in <u>Steele</u> went on to address the matter of a right to belatedly file a 3.850 motion. This Court concluded that when a prisoner alleges his attorney agreed to file a rule 3.850 motion but failed to do so in a timely manner, due process entitles the prisoner to a hearing to determine whether a belated postconviction motion should be permitted. <u>Id.</u>

Previous to the <u>Steele</u> decision, the Second District in <u>Diaz</u> <u>v. State</u>, 724 So. 2d 595, 596 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), had held that <u>Lambrix</u> mandated a criminal defendant be afforded no relief in the form of a belated appeal based on counsel's failure to file a notice of appeal from the denial of a postconviction motion, upon timely request by a defendant. In denying Rogers' habeas corpus petition, the district court <u>sub</u> judice relied upon <u>Diaz</u> but certified as a question of great public importance whether <u>Lambrix</u>, when considered in light of <u>Steele</u> forecloses provision for a belated appeal when the notice of appeal was not timely filed due to inef-

fectiveness of counsel in the collateral proceeding. <u>Rogers v.</u> <u>State</u>, 752 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000).

This Court's decision in <u>Steele</u> does not compel provision for a belated postconviction appeal where collateral counsel is charged with, or even concedes, that a timely postconviction appeal was requested and not instituted. More particularly, the <u>Steele</u> holding does not extend to the situation where a criminal defendant charges his counsel with misleading advice in the taking of a postconviction appeal. The differences in both the belated collateral remedy sought and the complaints by Steele and Rogers compel a different result in this case.

Rogers stands in a different posture than a defendant such as Steele. Rogers does not allege that he was denied access to a rule 3.850 motion due to attorney error. As noted, this Court in <u>Steele</u> amended rule 3.850 to expressly make retained counsel's failure to timely file a postconviction motion an exception to the two-year time limitation. Unlike Steele's situation, Roger's retained counsel filed a timely rule 3.850 motion.

Moreover, Rogers, unlike Steele, charges his counsel with misadvice. The summary ruling in Rogers' case rests upon this state's procedural rules precluding collateral litigation of issues which were or should have been raised, if at all, on appeal. Due process concerns do not extend to review of the propriety of counsel's advice to forego an appeal of the summary order on Rogers' postconviction claims. The Due Process Clause of the United States

Constitution does not guarantee that a collateral movant such as Rogers have effective assistance of counsel to appeal a state postconviction ruling.

The Fourteenth Amendment guarantees a criminal defendant the right to counsel on first appeal as of right. <u>See Douglas v. Cali-fornia</u>, 372 U.S. 353, 83 S. Ct. 814, 9 L. Ed. 2d 811 (1963). This guarantee has been interpreted to require that counsel pursuing a first appeal render effective assistance in <u>Evitts v. Lucev</u>, 469 U.S. 387, 391-392, 105 S. Ct. 830, 83 L. Ed. 2d 821 (1985).<sup>3</sup>

In contrast, the United States Supreme Court has held that the Fourteenth Amendment does not require appointed counsel to indigent defendants seeking discretionary, second-tier, appellate review. Wainwright v. Torna, 455 U.S. 586, 71 L. Ed. 2d 475, 102 S. Ct.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The United States Supreme Court has consistently pointed out that there is no federal constitutional right of criminal defendants to a direct appeal. <u>See Evitts v. Lucey</u>, 469 U.S. at 393, 105 S.Ct. at 834 ("Almost a century ago the Court held that the Constitution does not require States to grant appeals as of right to criminal defendants seeking to review alleged trial court errors."). <u>Accord</u> <u>Abney v. United States</u>, 431 U.S. 651, 656, 97 S.Ct. 2034, 2038-39, 52 L.Ed.2d 651 (1977); <u>Ross v. Moffitt</u>, 417 U.S. 600, 94 S.Ct. 2437, 41 L.Ed.2d 341 (1974).

In <u>State v. Creighton</u>, 469 So. 2d 735 (Fla. 1985), this Court stated that there was no right to appeal set forth in our state's constitution. In <u>Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate</u> <u>Procedure</u>, 696 So.2d 1103, 1104 (Fla. 1996), this Court receded from <u>Creighton</u> to the extent that the Court construed the language of article V, section 4(b) as a constitutional protection of the right to appeal. Stating that "the legislature may implement this constitutional right and place reasonable conditions upon it so long as they do not thwart the litigants' legitimate appellate rights, the Court concluded that legislature could reasonably condition the right to appeal upon the preservation of a prejudicial error or the assertion of a fundamental error. <u>Id.</u> at 1104.

1300 (1982) (holding that since, under <u>Ross v. Moffitt</u>, 417 U.S. 600, 41 L. Ed. 2d 341, 94 S. Ct. 2437 (1974), the appellant had no constitutional right to counsel on a discretionary appeal, he was not deprived of effective assistance of counsel by his retained counsel's failure to timely file an application for certiorari in the Supreme Court of Florida).

In 1974, this Court held that an attorney's failure to seek a writ of certiorari or alternatively to notify his client of his right to apply for it does not constitute a violation of the client's right to appeal. In so holding, this Court specifically held that certiorari is limited to specific situations and is discretionary with the Court. <u>See Rhome v. State</u>, 293 So. 2d 761 (Fla. 1974). Thus, a criminal defendant in Florida has neither a statebased nor a federal constitutional right to claim a violation of his appellate rights when his attorney has failed to preserve his opportunity to seek discretionary review in this Court.

The United States Supreme Court has not interpreted the Due Process Clause to guarantee effectiveness of counsel on postconviction appeal. In <u>Coleman v. Thompson</u>, 501 U.S. 722, 111 S.Ct. 2546, 115 L.Ed.2d 640 (1991), the United States Supreme Court rejected a federal habeas petitioner's contention that collateral counsel's late filing of a notice of appeal of the denial of his state habeas application was the result of attorney error of sufficient magnitude to excuse the default. The Court reasoned as follows:

There is no constitutional right to an attorney in state post-conviction proceedings. <u>Pennsylvania v. Finley</u>, 481 U.S. 551, 107 S.Ct. 1990, 95 L.Ed.2d 539 (1987); Murray v. Giarratano, 492 U.S. 1, 109 S.Ct. 2765, 106 L.Ed.2d 1 (1989) (applying the rule to capital cases). Consequently, a petitioner cannot claim constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel in such proceedings. See <u>Wainwright v. Torna</u>, 455 U.S. 586, 102 S.Ct. 1300, 71 L.Ed.2d 475 (1982) (where there is no constitutional right to counsel there can be no deprivation of effective assistance). Coleman contends that it was his attorney's error that led to the late filing of his state This error cannot be constitutionally habeas appeal. ineffective; therefore Coleman must "bear [501 U.S. 753] the risk of attorney error that results in a procedural default."

Coleman, 111 S.Ct. at 2566.

In deciding that Coleman did not have a constitutional right to counsel on appeal of a state collateral determination, the Court in <u>Coleman</u> necessarily rejected the notion that due process principles require counsel in the taking of a collateral appeal thus:

Coleman has had his "one and only appeal," if that is what a state collateral proceeding may be considered; the Buchanan County Circuit Court, after a 2-day evidentiary hearing, addressed Coleman's claims of trial error, including his ineffective assistance of counsel claims. What Coleman requires here is a right to counsel on appeal from that determination. Our case law will not support it.

In <u>Ross v. Moffitt</u>, 417 U.S. 600, 94 S.Ct. 2437, 41 L.Ed.2d 341 (1974), and <u>Pennsylvania v. Finley</u>, 481 U.S. 551, 107 S.Ct. 1990, 95 L.Ed.2d 539 (1987), we declined to extend the right to counsel beyond the first appeal of a criminal conviction. We held in <u>Ross</u> that neither the fundamental fairness required by the Due Process Clause nor the Fourteenth Amendment's equal protection guarantee necessitated that States provide counsel in state discretionary appeals where defendants already had one appeal as of right. "The duty of the State under our cases is not to duplicate the legal arsenal that may be privately retained by a criminal defendant in a continuing effort to reverse his conviction, but only to assure the indigent defendant an adequate opportunity to present his claims fairly in the context of the State's appellate process." 417 U.S., at 616, 94 S.Ct., at 2447. Similarly, in <u>Finley</u> we held that there is no right to counsel in state collateral proceedings after exhaustion of direct appellate review. 481 U.S., at 556, 107 S.Ct., at 1993-1994 (citing <u>Ross</u>, supra).

These cases dictate the answer here. Given that a criminal defendant has no right to counsel beyond his first appeal in pursuing state discretionary or collateral review, it would defy logic for us to hold that Coleman had a right to counsel [501 U.S. 757] to appeal a state collateral determination of his claims of trial error.

Coleman, 111 S.Ct. at 2568 (emphasis supplied).

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